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It’s that time of year when we at Finance House take stock of our past
initiatives

and

achievements.

Quite

appropriately

this

time,

we

find

ourselves drawing striking comparisons with the revered Date Palm. Able
to survive even in arid climates, the Date Palm is a symbol of strength and
productiveness - the intrinsic qualities that empower our performance at
Finance House. Less demanding and non-intrusive, the Date Palm gives
much more than it takes, much like the nature of our teamwork. Referred
to as the Tree of Life by the wise men of ancient times, the Date Palm has
supported the lives of people and livestock across civilizations. It is deep
rooted in the rich heritage of our land, nurtured and cherished by generations.
The Date Palm stands as the natural representation of the corporate structure
we aspire to build and preserve. As a singular source satisfying diverse needs,
proud to grow and deliver on promises; harvest after harvest, year after year.
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Special thanks to the authorities of the Khalifa International Date Palm Award for providing the photographs used in our Annual Report 2009.
All rights for the photographs of Date Palm and Date Fruit are reserved by the Khalifa International Date Palm Award, Abu Dhabi.
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Our Vision
Finance House aspires to be a leader in its domain by
providing specialised financial products and services
to its target markets. Our people, our market knowledge
and our technology are the pillars on which our innovation is
founded, and this makes it possible for us to stand head
and shoulders above the rest.
We:
•
		

Focus on providing exceptional and personalised customer
service

•

Aim to provide unmatchable turnaround times

•

Focus on local and neighbouring markets

•
		

Ensure that our products and services are tailor-made
for our clients

•
		

Develop our people and provide them them with the
opportunity to excel and prosper

•

Provide high returns and growth rates for our shareholders

•
		

Are a responsible and positive contributor to our society
and the environment
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Mr. Mohammed Abdulla Alqubaisi
Chairman

Chairman’s Statement
It is with great pleasure and a sense of pride that I present our 5th Annual Report, for it is my true belief
that at Finance House we have created a great company that can stand the test of both good and difficult
times. As I reflect upon the past year, I am again reminded of how the fundamental strategies on which
we have built this company - the continuous pursuit of profitable niche lending opportunities, sound risk
management, the diversification of the portfolio across economic sectors, the diversity of our product
offerings, and our emphasis on keeping costs low - continue to serve us well.
2009 saw governments across the globe trying to restore trust and confidence in the financial system in
an attempt to keep the effects of the global financial crisis from making its way into the real economy
and impacting economic output and employment. All the same, individual businesses along the spectrum
have, in varying degrees, felt the pressures of their stretched economies. For Finance House, 2009 was a
year of consolidation in terms of both market positioning and its internal organization. This past year also
helped us put the spotlight back on our core business, which to date, remains lending, both commercial
and retail, and proprietary investing.
Early in the crisis we took certain pre-emptive actions in anticipation of a likely deterioration in economic
circumstances, and these enabled us to withstand the crisis better. Our policy of growth with restraint
helped us steer clear of exposures that could have had a negative bearing on us.

Strong performance
I summarize below the key financial outcomes of
our actions for the year:

• Capital adequacy of 26% at year-end continues
to be robust

• Net profit of AED 112.4 million, arising
predominantly from core business
• Total assets grew to AED 2.72 billion - up 12%
on the previous year
• Shareholders’ funds stood at AED 639.6
million, and this is after paying a dividend of
AED 200 million during 2009, or 100 fils per
share
• Loans and advances to customers were held
at AED 1.14 billion, as compared to AED 1.15
billion as at 2008, which is a measure of
prudence against an uncertain economic
environment

Economic environment
The past year was clearly an extraordinary time for
businesses around the world, a year of incredible
challenge and change. Whilst oil prices began the
year at very low levels, they picked up as the year
wore on, and so did the macro-economic outlook
of the oil-producing economies of our region.
Concerns relating to debt defaults and rescheduling of major entities towards the end of 2009 was
a major setback and reversed the early signs of
recovery in investor/business sentiment.
Capital market performance around the world

• Customer deposit balances grew to AED 1.50

ranged between -19% and 129% as compared to

billion as against AED 1.06 billion the previous

the start of the year, while the UAE markets were

year - an increase of 41%, which is a testimony

by and large subdued with Dubai gaining 10%

to Finance House’s credibility in the market

and Abu Dhabi gaining 15%.
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Delivering in challenging times
The following are some of the noteworthy devel-

Our risk management is characterised by practices

opments at Finance House during 2009:

and frameworks that have proven to be effective

• Further reinforcement of Finance House as a
resilient brand
• Continued strong acceptance from corporate
depositors, government institutions and banks,
enabling us to top the AED 1.50 billion mark
in total deposits

the names that have made headline news.
Comprehensive

discussion

and

analysis

of

exposures to risks, coupled with reviews of the
quality and adequacy of risk controls through
the year enabled us to manage risks in a rapidly
changing business and regulatory environment.

• We secured substantial medium-to long-term
facilities from major UAE/ regional banks

We constantly engage in reviewing the organization’s risk profile relative to its risk appetite.

• We participated in the joint initiative of the

Our internal controls and compliance regimen

Ministry of Labour and the Central Bank of the

ensure that our processes remain robust and

UAE and deployed electronic payroll solutions

dependable.

for

automated

disbursement

of

workers’

salaries and wages that are fully compliant with
the Wages Protection System
• Our SmartGuarantee offering has penetrated

Our provisioning policy is conservative and serves
as a buffer against any unforeseen credit or investment losses.

very well into all segments of the business

Our customer focus

community

Our clients ultimately judge us by our ability to

• We gained full membership into the SWIFT

• The construction of our premises at Defence
Road in Abu Dhabi is nearing completion

sible corporate citizen, in terms of making
charitable donations to worthy causes within
and outside the GCC region

Trust is also created by walking the talk. Our
people take this responsibility very seriously
and work hard to meet the commitments we
strategy through a robust talent management

Our three main business areas – Commercial
Finance,

our customers, we work professionally to maintain

make - one customer at a time. We support this

Prudence as a business imperative
Corporate

bring value to the client. In all our interactions with
and strengthen those relationships.

• We continued to play our role as a respon-

and

build trust, and the only way we know to add to
that level of trust is by providing solutions that

network

14

and robust, in that we had no exposures to any of

Retail

Finance,

process that involves everything we do to acquire,
evaluate, develop and reward our people.

and Treasury & Investments – continue to

Our corporate culture is one that breaks down

complement each other, together making up an

silos to foster teamwork. This reinforces a “one

integrated portfolio of activities.

company” mindset across Finance House.
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With gratitude
We are proud to be one of the first public
companies in the UAE to have instituted share

I would like to take this opportunity to thank
all those who, for the last 5 years, have been

ownership among employees at all levels. This

responsible for our success:

has resulted in closely aligning employees’
interests with that of shareholders. We persist in our
efforts in growing Finance House into a world class
organization and one of the best employers in the
UAE.

− my fellow members at the Board for their
insight and guidance through buoyant and
tough economic times,
− the UAE Central Bank, the Ministry of Economy,
and the Securities and Commodities Authority

Positioning Finance House for the future

for their enduring support,

Our work is never done, of course, and we remain
very ambitious to pursue our growth strategy to
still greater success ahead. Our strategy has served
us well thus far. Our main priority now is the
balancing of near-term results with long-term
growth. In this regard, we have made two critical
choices to deal with the current environment: (1)
to focus on disciplined cash and cost management

− our shareholders for their confidence, especially
those that have stayed with us since inception,
− our borrowers and our depositors for their
continued trust,
− and finally, our management and staff who
have worked hard and maintained a singleminded commitment towards Finance House
throughout.

and (2) to invest in people, innovation and the
brand to ensure Finance House is ready to grow
when we come out of the current environment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Our investments portfolio is carefully structured in
a manner that is designed to enable us to realize
profits through staggered exits over the medium
term.
In the final analysis, our unwavering focus is on
enhancing the strength of Finance House and on

Mohammed Abdulla Alqubaisi

creating value for our shareholders.

Chairman
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Financial Highlights
AED’ 000

2005*

2006

2007

2008

2009

Net interest income

36,476

33,806

39,216

90,617

125,130

Non-interest income

237,804

181,982

255,598

401,956

68,099

Total operating income

274,280

215,788

294,814

492,573

193,229

Net income

190,454

160,604

202,809

248,849

112,409

-

100,000

150,000

200,000

110,000

1,058,786

1,313,615

2,159,660

2,423,725

2,719,965

Due from Banks

230,380

372,800

629,098

535,742

696,927

Investments

619,376

543,787

755,349

494,973

649,955

Loans and advances (net)

165,782

348,226

708,159

1,153,378

1,143,277

Customer deposits

126,492

404,535

707,422

1,059,065

1,495,635

77,122

150,000

321,725

272,267

67,356

808,222

724,338

949,467

794,687

639,593

Return on equity (%)

23.6

22.2

21.4

31.3

17.6

Return on average assets (%)

18.0

13.5

11.7

10.9

4.4

Earnings per share - Basic (AED)

0.95

0.80

1.01

1.14

0.51

27.7

20.0

22.7

26.3

37.6

-

-

0.10

0.38

0.08

0.31

0.81

1.27

2.05

3.25

72.0

67.0

43.0

37.0

26.0

EARNINGS

Dividend

Financial Position
Total assets

Due to Banks
Shareholders’ equity

Ratios
Earnings

Cost
Cost to Income (%)

Capital
Debt to Equity (times)
Total Liabilities to Shareholders’ Equity
(times)
Capital Adequacy Ratio (%)

*Covers 17 months (inception to 31 December 2005)
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Business Review
2009 tested the strength of our business model, but it also validated it. At the end of this rather challenging
year, Finance House has set itself apart as a strong and stable player that has endured the financial crisis
well. If we are a well-recognised financial institution today, it is because of our cautious approach to the
business of lending and investing. Our consistently strong performance is due to our diversified business
model, a clear long-term strategy, our strong balance sheet, stringent risk management, and our commitment
to our clients.
The financial crisis and the ensuing economic
slowdown did make for difficult conditions for
some of our clients, but we worked closely with
them to achieve better outcomes by providing
them timely advice and solutions.
We are today a better company than we were
before the start of the crisis. The environment of
last year spurred us to find new ways to be more
efficient and productive across all business and
support units. Consequently, we took a much
closer look at our costs and effected substantial
savings. We reviewed and tightened our lending
criteria, and put emphasis on our collection and
recovery processes. We also revised our liquidity
management policies to adjust to the external
economic environment.
The global economy remained in recession for the
most part of 2009. However, during the latter part
of the year, the pace of economic decline slowed,
largely reflecting stabilizing financial market and
economic conditions.

Commercial and Corporate Finance
We have thus far delivered on the strategy of
building a robust portfolio of high quality corporate
entities, and this has been possible due to the deep
roots we enjoy within the UAE business community.
During 2009, as the credit environment in general
worsened, we refocused our strategic priorities in
this area, from the erstwhile growth-orientation
to one of consolidation. We strengthened our
collection teams and enhanced our recovery
processes to take into account the shifts occurring
in clients’ cash flow patterns through the year.

In the wake of the financial crisis, credit risk has
increased while credit quality deteriorated from
the prior year consistent with the global economic
cycle. This has had the effect of pushing up the cost
of credit commensurate with the elevated level of
credit risk. In line with the market our yields too
increased, but we were very selective in taking fresh
exposures only on stronger credits. Moreover, we
progressively reallocated the portfolio through the
year towards a larger number of smaller exposures.
Besides, we focused on wider-ranging relationships
with clients that went beyond just borrowings, to
include services such as deposits, trade finance,
collection and escrow arrangements, and issuance
of guarantees. Our non-funded portfolio grew
further with a steady increase in the flow of letters
of credit, bid bonds, performance bonds, and
payment guarantees.
During the year we developed an innovative
lending product designed specifically for smalland medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), a customer
category that has been most impacted by the current
economic downturn. The product is expected
to be rolled out in early 2010, and is aimed at
collateralising a section of the borrowers’ revenue
flows as a basis of lending.

Retail Finance
In 2009 we re-deployed our distribution network
towards our thrust areas, in terms of both product
lines as well as in geographic focus. In certain
cases we even augmented the distribution network
to afford better penetration.
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We were early adopters of the joint initiative of
the UAE Ministry of Labour and the UAE Central
Bank for third-party salary payment, known as
Wage Protection System, and have since signed up
with several commercial and corporate entities for
payment of wages.
Our credit card portfolio continued to grow through
the year on the basis of very selective client intake,
as did the Executive Finance portfolio, our personal
finance offering for the middle-and upper-salaried
segments. Both these portfolios continue to perform
very well generating healthy net returns.
Finance House continued its policy, established
since inception, of staying away from the mortgage
finance market. However, we are monitoring this
market for signs of correction in terms of risks and
rewards, with a view towards exploiting selective
opportunities that may arise in the future.

Investments
Our proprietary portfolio of investments is very
well-diversified across asset classes and across
economic sectors. Our investment activity is
regulated internally on the basis of a comprehensive
investment policy. During the year we took
advantage of the partial recovery in capital markets
prices by exiting certain positions, with profitable
results. Overall, the profit from investments was
modest in comparison with previous years but
nonetheless this activity did contribute positively
to the Company’s net income. Our private equity
portfolio remains robust due to the resilient sectors
we are invested in and due to the sound business
strategies of the portfolio companies. This private
equity portfolio is expected to enhance our future
earnings as several exits are expected.

Treasury
Throughout 2009 the Company has been growing
its customer deposits as well as its base of
depositors, comprising corporate, institutional and
governmental entities. As a result, we remained
highly liquid at all times during the year and were
a net lender to the banking network throughout
the year, with net positive spreads on our liquid

22

F I N A N C E

H O U S E

A N N U A L

R E P O R T

balances. All the same, our efforts to secure further
short-term funding lines from banks continued,
both UAE and regional banks, and also tied up
medium- and long-term funding arrangements
with UAE banks for reducing any potential tenor
mismatches, as well as for project finance. While
the benchmark EBOR rate fell for the better part of
the year, spreads increased and kept the borrowing
costs from going down significantly.

Operations
In 2009 we obtained full membership into the
SWIFT network, thereby making it possible for us
to gain access to a number of inter-bank services.
We launched an in-house initiative towards
obtaining ISO 27001 certification. We set up an
information systems disaster recovery site at our
branch in Dubai. We continue to refine our systems
and workflow channels to continually reduce
process cycle time, to result in quicker response to
our clients. During the year we further enhanced
our attention to compliance and anti-money
laundering measures by enhancing resources in
these areas.
The Company is well supported by an independent
and strong internal audit function that reports
directly into the Audit Committee of the Board. The
yearly audit by the UAE Central Bank, which has
been the longest and most comprehensive since
inception, has reaffirmed Finance House’s solid
position and robust operations.

Risk Management
We manage our risks by seeking to ensure that
our exposures in each business segment remain
within our acceptable risk tolerance and that they
provide an equal or higher return than the risk
assumed. The risk tolerances are translated into risk
limits for operational purposes. The risk appetite is
collectively managed throughout the organization
through adherence to our risk management policies
and procedures. The risk limits are periodically
reviewed to ensure that they remain within the risk
appetite of the Company.

2 0 0 9

The key elements of our risk management
framework are:

Committees of the Board

• Achieving stability in earnings through tight 		

Credit Committee, and the Audit Committee -

controls over credit and market exposures

The two Board Committees - the Investment and
between them cover all aspects of the Company’s

• Maintaining capital adequacy in excess of 20%

business.

vis-á-vis the regulatory requirement of 15%

The Investment and Credit Committee reviews

• Sound management of liquidity risk and

credit proposals, investment recommendations,
and matters of credit and investment policy.

funding risk
• Adherence to regulatory requirements

The Audit Committee regularly meets to review the

We have not been affected by currency fluctuations,
since the majority of our exposures are in AED and
nearly all of our remaining exposures are in USD
and USD-pegged currencies.

reports and recommendations of the independent
internal audit team and external auditors, as also to
monitor compliance with the laws and regulatory
requirements.

Corporate Governance

During the year the Board decided to discontinue

The Board

matters between the Executive Committee and the

the Executive Committee due to the overlap of

The members of the Board, all of whom are nonexecutive directors, comprise prominent UAE
nationals from Abu Dhabi. The Board has been

Board of Directors.

Human Resources

instrumental in establishing a strong corporate

We believe the Management of Finance House

governance culture in the Company. It plays an

has successfully integrated its people and its

important role in defining and enforcing standards

operations with the Board’s strategy in order to

of accountability that enable Management to

deliver successfully on its corporate mission. As

manage the Company in the best interests of its

a direct benefit of such integration, the Company

shareholders. The Board has a formal schedule of

has been able to develop a loyal employee base, as

matters reserved to it and holds regular and frequent
meetings. It is responsible for overall Company
strategy, acquisition and divestment policy, approval

evidenced by the low staff turnover ratio over the
past couple of years.

of capital expenditure proposals and consideration

Our

of significant financing matters. It monitors the

carefully designed to attract, motivate and retain

Company’s exposure to key business risks and
reviews the annual budget of the Company, and
monitors its progress towards achievement of the
budget. The Board also considers environmental
and employee issues and key appointments.

executive

remuneration

packages

are

managers of high calibre needed to maintain
the company’s leading position and to reward
them for meeting business goals and thereby
enhancing value to shareholders. The attraction,
development and retention of UAE national human

All directors are required to submit themselves for

resources continues to be a prime objective for the

re-election at least once every three years.

company.
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�أهـذا هـوالنـخل ملك الريا�ضمـــ�آذن
طـعـام الـفــقيـر وحـلـوى الـغـنـي

�أمــيــر الـحــــقــول عـــرو�س الــعــزب
وزاد الـــمــ�ســافــر والــمـــغـــتـــرب
�أحمد �شوقي

Financial Review
Finance House’s Balance Sheet, earnings, and capital base continued to remain strong in 2009, its fifth year
of operations, demonstrating the fundamental strength of the company’s business strategy.

Balance Sheet
Total Assets

investment

Total Assets grew by 12% in 2009 to reach AED

in convertible Sukuk of an Islamic

financial institution, as well as classification of

2.72 billion as at 31st December 2009 over the

fixed assets into investment property.

previous year-end figure of AED 2.42 billion.

Deposits

Loans and Advances

Total Deposits grew to AED 1.56 billion at the year

2009 year-end Gross Loans and Advances portfo-

end, which represents a 17% increase over the pre-

lio balance was AED 1.29 billion. This was held at

vious year. Of this, AED 1.50 billion comprises de-

the same level as the previous year, as a measure

posits from corporate customers and governmental

of prudence. Corporate and commercial finance

institutions, which grew 41% over the previous

loans constitute 73% of the total loan portfolio,

year’s level of AED 1.06 billion. The remaining

while retail finance accounted for the balance.

amount of AED 67 million consists of deposits from

Both categories of loans carry a high credit quality,

Banks. The term loans of AED 147 million are of

as evidenced by the relatively low levels of non-

three-year tenor and include a revolving facility.

performing loans. Notwithstanding the low level of
NPAs, the company has taken cognisance of the

Capital Strength

current deterioration in credit conditions in the

Shareholders’ Equity as at year-end stood to AED

market, and has adopted a very prudent approach

640 million; this is after distributing a dividend of

to provisioning. Accordingly, further provisions

AED 200 million to shareholders in 2009. Retained

made during the year amounted to AED 8 mil-

earnings account for 52% (AED 332 million) of the

lion, taking the total provisions to AED 150 million
at year-end. Total non-performing loan balances
written off in 2009 amounted to a mere AED 0.5
million and cumulatively for all years to no more
than AED 0.8 million.

shareholders’ equity. The company’s Balance Sheet
reflects a mere 8% capital gearing ratio at year-end
2009 as against a 38% ratio as at year-end 2008, a
testimony to its strong capital base, as also a measure of its borrowing capacity to fund its plans for

Investments

future growth.

Total investments grew to AED 650 million, re-

Capital Adequacy

cording an increase of 31%, as compared to AED
495 million in 2008. The performance of the
Company’s investments has been satisfactory, de-

As a further indication of the company’s strong
capital base and conservative approach, the risk-

spite the increased volatility in capital markets. The

adjusted capital adequacy ratio (computed in

additional investments in 2009 mainly arose from

accordance with the guidelines of the Central Bank

the acquisition of the residual non-controlling

of the UAE) was 26%, substantially in excess of the

interest in one of our subsidiaries, and from

regulatory requirement of 15%.
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Income Statement
Net operating income for the year ended 31st December 2009 was AED 193 million and the reported net
profit for 2009 was AED 112.4 million, resulting in an earning of 51 fils per share.
Net profit to total operating income for the year 2009 was 58%, recording an increase of 7% from previous
year figure of 51%.
Net interest income for 2009 was AED 125 million, as against AED 91 million the previous year, the
increase of 38% being the combined effect of better yields from the loan portfolio and profitable treasury
operations.
Gross investment income recorded in 2009 stood at AED 41 million despite the increased volatility in
capital markets.
The Company implemented several measures to control and reduce operating expenses and these were
strictly monitored through the year to achieve a 44% reduction year-on-year. Cost-to-operating income
ratio for the year stood at 38%.
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ت نـخــل الـعـلـم مـن �أوتـاده
َف
ـهــ َز ْز َ
َ

فـتـ�ساقـطـت رطـب الفهوم ب�أر�ضه
�أبو الطيب املتنبي

Loans and Advances (AED Millions)

Total Operating Income (AED Millions)
493

1,153

1,143

295

274
708

216

348

194

166

2005

2006

193

2007

2008

2009

2005*

2006

2007

2008

2009

*Total

Operating Income of AED 274 million is for 17 months;
annualized to AED 194 million for comparison purposes.

Customer Deposits (AED Millions)

Net Profit (AED Millions)

1,496

249

190
161

1,059

112

203

707

134

405
126
2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2005 *

2006

2007

2008

2009

*Net Profit of AED 190 million is for 17 months;
annualized to AED 134 million for comparison purposes.

Non-Interest Income as a % of
Total Operating Income

Shareholders’ Equity (AED Millions)
86.7

84.3

86.7

81.6

949
808

795
724
640

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

35.2

2005
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2007
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�أحببت حتى ال�شوك يف �صحـرائهـا
الــالبــ�س الـــورق الـيـبـيـ�س تـنـ�ســكـا

وعـ�شـقـت حتى نخلهـا املتـكـبــرا
واملـ�شـمـخــر �إلـى ال�سـمــاء تـجـبــرا
�إيليا �أبوما�ضي

Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of
Finance House P.J.S.C.
Abu Dhabi, UAE
Report on the consolidated financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Finance House P.J.S.C. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2009, the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatements.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Independent auditor’s report (Continued)
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Group as of 31 December 2009, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Also, in our opinion, proper books of account are maintained by the Company, and the information included
in the Board of Directors’ report related to the consolidated financial statements is in agreement with the books
of account. We have obtained all the information and explanations which we considered necessary for the
purpose of our audit. According to the information available to us, there were no contraventions of the
UAE Federal Commercial Companies Law No. (8) of 1984 (as amended) or the Articles of Association of
the Company during the year which might have a material effect on the financial position of the Group or
on the results of its operations for the year.

Ahmad Nimer
Registration No. 380
25 January 2010
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FINANCE HOUSE P.J.S.C.
Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2009
2008
AED’000

2009
AED’000

Notes
ASSETS
5
5

962
696,927
2,407
535,222
1,143,277
64,862
4,973
117,529
47,464
106,342
                   

2,018
535,742
1,502
438,667
1,153,378
54,804
151,926
85,688
                   

2,719,965

2,423,725

1,495,635
67,356
146,839
366,497
4,045
                   

1,059,065
272,267
99,195
196,192
2,319
                   

2,080,372
                   

1,629,038
                   

220,000
(1,750)
91,512
(11,512)
332,326
9,017
                   
639,593

220,000
(1,750)
80,271
42,565
420,975
21,296
                   
783,357

Non-controlling interest

                   

11,330
                   

Total equity

639,593
                   

794,687
                   

2,719,965

2,423,725

685,238

795,757

Cash balances
Due from banks
Investments held for trading
Available for sale investments
Loans and advances, net
Investment in associates
Goodwill
Property, fixtures and equipment
Investment property
Interest receivable and other assets

6
7
8
9
10
11
12

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Due to banks
Term loan
Interest payable and other liabilities
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

13
5
14

Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital

15
16
17

Employees share-based payment scheme
Statutory reserve
Revaluation reserve

18

Retained earnings
Proposed directors’ remuneration
Equity attributable to equity holder of the Parent company

Total liabilities and equity
Commitments and contingent liabilities

21

Mr. Mohammed Alqubaisi

Mr. Hamid Taylor

Chairman

General Manager

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCE HOUSE P.J.S.C.
Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2009
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

204,231
(79,101)
                

136,318
(45,701)
                

125,130
                

90,617
                

26,252
(7,225)
                

29,895
(10,516)
                

19,027
                

19,379
                

Contract revenue
Contract costs

92,868
(92,662)
                

37,200
(45,172)
                

Net contract income/(loss)

206
                

(7,972)
                

Notes
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

22

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

23

Net income/(loss) from investments carried at fair
value through profit or loss
Net income from available for sale investments

24

726

(3,688)

25

23,101

385,946

Gain on fair valuation of investment property
Share of profit of associates
Other operating income

11
8

5,600
11,128
8,311
                

6,296
1,995
                

193,229
                

492,573
                

(57,806)
12,120
(4,948)
(22,022)

(68,805)
(20,650)
(6,180)
(33,816)

(8,164)
                

(97,373)
(16,900)
                

(80,820)
                

(243,724)
                

112,409

248,849

Total operating income
Salaries and employee related expenses
Reversal of/(provision for) contract losses
Depreciation of property, fixtures and equipment
Other general and administrative expenses
Allowance for impairment of loans and
advances, net
Allowance for impairment of available for sale investments

10

7
6

Total operating expenses and allowances
Net profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Parent company
Basic earnings per share (AED)

26

AED 0.51

AED 1.14

Diluted earnings per share (AED)

26

AED 0.51

AED 1.13

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

34

F I N A N C E

H O U S E

A N N U A L

R E P O R T

2 0 0 9

FINANCE HOUSE P.J.S.C.
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2009
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

112,409
                

248,849
                

Notes
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Decrease in fair value of investments available for sale

6

(33,566)

(29,053)

Realised gain on disposal of investments available for sale

6

(3,367)

(233,876)

-

32,176

(21,296)
                

(7,000)
128
                

(58,229)
                

(237,625)
                

54,180

11,224

54,180
                

(46)
11,270
                

54,180

11,224

Land revaluation surplus
Directors’ remuneration paid
Net movement in employees share-based payment scheme
Other comprehensive loss for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Owners of the Parent company
Non-controlling interest

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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-

Transfer to statutory reserve

Proposed directors’ remuneration

Balance at 31 December 2008

Acquisition of non-controlling
interest

Conversion of convertible bonds

Dividend paid

Total comprehensive income for
the year

220,000

                

20,000

-

                

                

-

Directors’ remuneration paid

Utilisation under employees sharebased payment scheme

-

-

(1,750)

               

-

-

128
               

128
               

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,878)
               

200,000
                

Decrease in fair value of
investments available for sale
Realised gain on sale of
investments available for sale
Land revaluation surplus

Net profit for the year

Balance at 1 January 2008

AED’000

Share
capital

Employees
share-based
payment
scheme
AED’000

FINANCE HOUSE P.J.S.C.
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009

80,271

                

-

-

24,885
                

                

-

24,885

-

-

-

-

55,386
                

AED’000

42,565

              

-

-

(242,023)
              

              

-

-

-

(233,876)
20,906

(29,053)

-

284,588
              

AED’000

Statutory Revaluation
reserve
reserve

420,975

(16,064)
              

-

(150,000)

202,668
              

              

(21,296)

(24,885)

-

-

-

248,849

384,371
              

AED’000

Retained
earnings

2 0 0 9

794,687

(16,004)
                

-

(150,000)

11,224
                

128
                

-

-

(7,000)

(233,876)
32,176

(29,053)

248,849

949,467
                

Total
AED’000

R E P O R T

11,330

60
                

-

-

11,270
                

                

-

-

-

11,270

-

-

                

Noncontrolling
interest
AED’000

A N N U A L

783,357

(16,064)
               

-

(150,000)

(46)
               

128
               

-

-

(7,000)

(233,876)
20,906

(29,053)

248,849

949,467
               

H O U S E

21,296

                

-

-

14,296
                

                

21,296

-

(7,000)

-

-

-

7,000
                

F I N A N C E

-

               

(20,000)

-

               

               

-

-

-

-

-

-

20,000
               

Attributable
Proposed to owners of
Convertible
the Parent
directors’
bonds remuneration
company
AED’000
AED’000
AED’000
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(1,750)

               

               

220,000

-

-

               

-

-

               

-

-

(1,750)
               

220,000
                

91,512

                

-

11,241
                

11,241
                

-

-

80,271
                

AED’000

Statutory
reserve

(11,512)

              

2,056

(56,133)
              

(3,367)
(19,200)
              

(33,566)

-

42,565
              

AED’000

Revaluation
reserve

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Balance at 31 December 2009

Dividend paid
Acquisition of non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Net profit for the year
Decrease in fair value of investments
available for sale
Realised gain on sale of investments
available for sale
Transfer of land revaluation surplus
Directors’ remuneration paid
Transfer to statutory reserve
Proposed directors’ remuneration

Balance at 1 January 2009

AED’000

AED’000

Employees
share-based
Share
payment
capital
scheme

FINANCE HOUSE P.J.S.C.
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)

332,326

               

(200,000)
-

111,351
              

19,200
(11,241)
(9,017)
               

-

112,409

420,975
              

AED’000

H O U S E

9,017

                

-

(12,279)
                

(21,296)
9,017
                

-

-

21,296
                

AED’000

F I N A N C E

-

               

-

               

               

-

-

               

AED’000

AED’000

Total
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639,593

                

(200,000)
(9,274)

54,180
                

(3,367)
(21,296)
                

(33,566)

112,409

794,687
                

R E P O R T

-

                

(11,330)

                

                

-

-

11,330
                

AED’000

A N N U A L

639,593

               

(200,000)
2,056

54,180
               

(3,367)
(21,296)
               

(33,566)

112,409

783,357
               

AED’000

Attributable
NonProposed to owners of
the Parent controlling
directors’
Retained Convertible
interest
Company
earnings
bonds remuneration
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FINANCE HOUSE P.J.S.C.
Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2009
Note
Operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, fixtures and equipment
Distribution of shares under employees share-based payment scheme
Dividend income
Realised gain on disposal of investments held for trading
Realised gain on disposal of available for sale investments, net
Unrealised (gain)/loss on revaluation of investments held for trading
Gain on fair valuation of investment property
Share of profit of associates
(Reversal of)/ provision for contract losses
Allowance for impairment of loans and advances
Allowance for impairment of available for sale investments
Net movement in provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Accumulated profit on acquisition of subsidiaries

2008
AED’000

112,409

248,849

4,948
(6,491)
(16,649)
(687)
(5,600)
(11,128)
(12,120)
8,164
1,726
                      
74,572
(250,855)
(218)
1,937
(4,973)
(205,000)
47,644
(20,654)
436,570
182,425
                      

6,180
128
(13,599)
(707)
(372,677)
4,725
(6,296)
20,650
97,373
16,900
1,297
(16,064)
                      
(13,241)
140,000
(12,986)
22,342
(542,592)
38,275
7,382
(49,920)
368,125
70,849
                      

261,448
                      

28,234
                      

301,588
(418,427)
(12,415)
1,070
6,491
                      

1,251,119
(868,143)
(29,563)
(107,100)
(8,540)
14,872
                      

(121,693)
                      

252,645
                      

(21,296)
(200,000)
(9,274)
                      

(7,000)
(150,000)
11,330
                      

Net cash used in financing activities

(230,570)
                      

(145,670)
                      

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(90,815)
535,493
                      

135,209
400,284
                      

444,678

535,493

Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in due from banks maturing after three months
Purchase of investments held for trading
Proceeds from sale of investments held for trading
Decrease/(increase) in loans and advances
Increase in goodwill
(Decrease)/increase in due to banks maturing after three months
Increase in term loan
Increase in interest receivable and other assets
Increase in customers’ deposits
Increase in interest payable and other liabilities
Net cash from operating activities
Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of available for sale investments
Purchase of available for sale investments
Finance cost incurred on acquisition of available for sale investments
Purchase of property, fixtures and equipment
Disposal/(investment) in associates
Dividend income received
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities
Financing activities
Directors’ remuneration paid
Dividend paid
Non-controlling interest

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009
1

General information

Finance House P.J.S.C. (the “Company”) is a Public Joint Stock Company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu
Dhabi, United Arab Emirates in accordance with the provisions of the UAE Federal Commercial Companies
Law No. (8) of 1984 (as amended), the UAE Central Bank, the Monetary System and Organisation of
Banking Law No. (10) of 1980 and under authority of resolutions of the Board of Directors of the UAE
Central Bank relating to Finance Companies.
The Company was established on 13 March 2004 and commenced its operations on 18 July 2004. The
Company performs its activities through its head office in Abu Dhabi and its Abu Dhabi and Dubai branches.
The principal activities of the Company consist of investments, consumer and commercial financing and
other related services.
The registered head office of the Company is at P.O. Box 7878, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates (UAE).
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are comprised of the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The details of the Company’s subsidiaries
and their principal activities are as follows:
Country of
incorporation

Ownership
interest
%

Principal
activity

Third Vision Investment L.L.C.

UAE

100

Own and manage
head office premises

Benyan Development Co. L.L.C

UAE

100

Real estate
construction

Emirates National Electromechanical L.L.C

UAE

100

Electromechanical
contracting

FH Capital Limited

UAE

100

Investment and asset
management

Name of subsidiary

The consolidated financial statements are presented in UAE Dirhams (AED) since that is the currency in
which the majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated.
2

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

2.1

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure

The following new and revised Standards have been adopted in the current year in these consolidated
financial statements. Details of other Standards and Interpretations adopted but that have had no effect on
the consolidated financial statements are set out in section 2.2.
IAS 1 (2007) has introduced terminology changes (including
• IAS 1 (as revised in 2007)
Presentation of Financial Statements revised titles for the financial statements) and changes in the format
and content of the consolidated financial statements.
• Improving disclosures
about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures)

The amendments to IFRS 7 expand the disclosures required in
respect of fair value measurements and liquidity risk. The Group
has elected not to provide comparative information for these
expanded disclosures in the current year in accordance with the
transitional reliefs offered in these amendments.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009
2

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)

2.2

Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on the financial statements

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these consolidated
financial statements. Their adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these
consolidated financial statements but may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

40

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IFRS 8 is a disclosure Standard that requires re-designation of the
Group’s reportable segments based on the segments used by the
Chief Operating Decision Maker to allocate resources and assess
performance. There was no material impact of this Standard on the
previous disclosures and reported results or the financial position
of the Group since the business segments reported earlier as per
the requirements of IAS 14 Segment Reporting are also used by
the General Manager to allocate resources to the segments and to
assess its performance.

• Amendments to IFRS 2
Share-based Payment - Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations

The amendments clarify the definition of vesting conditions
for the purposes of IFRS 2, introduce the concept of ‘nonvesting’ conditions, and clarify the accounting treatment for
cancellations.

• IAS 23 (as revised in 2007)
Borrowing Costs

The principal change to the Standard was to eliminate the option
to expense all borrowing costs when incurred. This change has
had no impact on these financial statements because it has always
been the Group’s accounting policy to capitalise borrowing costs
incurred on qualifying assets.

• Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements – Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations
Arising on Liquidation

The revisions to IAS 32 amend the criteria for debt/equity
classification by permitting certain puttable financial instruments
and instruments (or components of instruments) that impose on
an entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro-rata share
of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation, to be classified
as equity, subject to specified criteria being met.

• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty
Programmes

The Interpretation provides guidance on how entities should
account for customer loyalty programmes by allocating revenue
on sale to possible future award attached to the sale.

• IFRIC 15 Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate

The Interpretation addresses how entities should determine
whether an agreement for the construction of real estate is within
the scope of IAS 11 Construction Contracts or IAS 18 Revenue
and when revenue from the construction of real estate should be
recognised.

• IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net
Investment in a Foreign Operation

The Interpretation provides guidance on the detailed requirements
for net investment hedging for certain hedge accounting
designations.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009
2

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)

2.2

Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on the financial statements (continued)

• IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from
Customers (adopted in advance of
effective date of transfers of assets
from customers received on or
after 1 July 2009)

The Interpretation addresses the accounting by recipients for
transfers of property, plant and equipment from ‘customers’ and
concludes that when the item of property, plant and equipment
transferred meets the definition of an asset from the perspective
of the recipient, the recipient should recognise the asset at its fair
value on the date of the transfer, with the credit recognised as
revenue in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

• Improvements to IFRSs (2008)

Amendments to IFRS 5, IAS 1, IAS 16, IAS 19, IAS 20, IAS 23,
IAS 27, IAS 28, IAS 29, IAS 31, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, IAS 40
and IAS 41 resulting from the May and October 2008 Annual
Improvements to IFRSs majority of which are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

2.3

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the following new and revised
Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:
New Standards and amendments to Standards:
Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after
------------------------------------------• IFRS 1 (revised) First time Adoption of IFRS and IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements – Amendment relating to Cost of an
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

1 July 2009

• IFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations – Comprehensive revision on applying
the acquisition method and consequential amendments to IAS 27 (revised)
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28 (revised) Investments
in Associates and IAS 31 (revised) Interests in Joint Ventures

1 July 2009

• IAS 39 (revised) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement –
Amendments relating to Eligible Hedged Items(such as hedging Inflation risk
and Hedging with options)

1 July 2009
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009
2

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)

2.3

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet effective (continued)

New Standards and amendments to Standards: (continued)
Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after
-------------------------------------------• IFRS 1 (revised) First time Adoption of IFRS – Amendment on
additional exemptions for First-time Adopters

1 January 2010

• IFRS 2 (revised) Share-based payment – Amendment relating to
Group cash-settled Share-based payments

1 January 2010

• IAS 32 (revised) Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendments
relating to classification of Rights Issue

1 February 2010

• IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures – Amendment on disclosure
requirements for entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by a Government

1 January 2011

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
(intended as complete replacement for IAS 39 and IFRS 7)

1 January 2013

• Amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS 1, IAS 7, IAS 17, IAS 18,
IAS 36, IAS 38 and IAS 39 resulting from April 2009 Annual
Improvements to IFRSs.

Majority effective for annual
periods beginning on or after
1 January 2010

New Interpretations and amendments to Interpretations:
Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after
-----------------------------------------• IFRIC 17: Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

1 July 2009

• IFRIC 19: Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

1 July 2010

• Amendment to IFRIC 14: IAS 19: The limit on a defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirement and their interaction

1 January 2011

• Amendment to IFRIC 16: Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation

1 July 2009

• Amendment to IFRIC 9 (revised): Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives relating to assessment of embedded derivatives in case of
reclassification of a financial asset out of the ‘FVTPL’ category

1 July 2009

Management anticipates that these amendments will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the initial period when they become effective. Management have not yet had an opportunity
to consider the potential impact of the adoption of these amendments.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments and properties which are carried at fair values. The principal accounting policies
adopted are set out below:
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries are identified
separately from the Group’s equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the
date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the non-controlling’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group, except to the extent that the minority has
a binding legal obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The results, assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s
share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments.
Where the Group transacts with an associate, significant profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired
(the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal.
Property, fixtures and equipment
Freehold land granted is carried at a professionally valued amount and is not depreciated.
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, motor vehicles, computer hardware and software are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation, and accumulated impairment loss, if any.
Cost includes purchase cost and any incidental expenses of acquisition including professional fees.
Properties in the course of construction for administrative purposes or for purposes not yet determined, are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss, if any.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than freehold land and properties under
construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method on the following basis:
Furniture, fixtures and equipment

3-5 years

Motor vehicles

4 years

Computer hardware and software
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, fixtures and equipment (continued)
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in consolidated statement of income.
Impairment of tangible assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
consolidated statement of income. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
consolidated statement of income.
Investment property
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
property under construction for such purposes), is measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.
Employees’ end of service benefits
Provision is made for estimated amounts required to cover employees’ end of service benefits at the end of
the reporting period as per U.A.E. Labour Law.
With respect to UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to Abu Dhabi Retirement Pension
and Benefits Fund calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited
to these contributions which are expensed when due.

F I N A N C E

H O U S E

A N N U A L

R E P O R T

2 0 0 9

45

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Foreign currencies
Transactions in currencies other than UAE Dirhams are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Interest
Interest income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of income using the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability to the carrying amount of
the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial
asset or liability and is not revised subsequently.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees paid or received, transaction costs, and discounts
or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or liability.
Fees and commission
Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset
or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.
Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, placement fees and syndication
fees, are recognised as the related services are performed. When a loan commitment is not expected to
result in the draw-down of a loan, loan commitment fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the
commitment period. Success-based fees are recognised when the success is reliably established.
Other fees and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as
the services are received.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established. Dividends are reflected as
a component of either net income from investments carried at fair value through profit or loss or net income
from available for sale investments, based on the underlying classification of the equity instrument.
Net income from investments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Net income from investments carried at fair value through profit or loss relates to investments held for
trading or classified as investments carried at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition, and
includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, dividends and foreign exchange differences.
Net income from available for sale investments
Net income from available for sale investments includes realised gains or losses on disposal of available for
sale investments, dividends and foreign exchange differences.
Construction contracts
Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the surveys of work performed and completion of a physical proportion of the contracts. Variations
in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with
the customer.
Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised
as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
Financial assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value
through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.
For regular way trades, all investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date, and are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those investments that are classified as at fair value
through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank, Due from banks
which mature within three months of the date of placement, net of balances due to banks maturing within
three months from the date of acceptance.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or
• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:
• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or
• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that
basis.
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 30.8.
AFS financial assets
Unquoted shares and quoted shares held by the Group that are traded in an active market but not intended
to be traded frequently are classified as being AFS and are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined in
the manner described in note 30.8. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income in the revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment losses, interest
calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets,
which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the investments revaluation reserve is
included in profit or loss for the period.
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established.
The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The change in fair value
attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at
amortised cost, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the
reporting period.
For unquoted shares classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
For all other financial assets objective evidence of impairment could include:
• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; or
• requirements of the Central Bank of UAE.
For certain categories of financial assets, such as loans and advances, interest and trade receivables, assets
that are assessed not to be impaired individually are assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Individually assessed loans
Individually assessed loans represent mainly corporate and commercial loans which are assessed
individually and classified by the Credit Risk Unit in order to determine whether any objective evidence
exists that a loan is impaired. Impaired loans are measured based on the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate. Impairment loss is calculated as the difference
between the loan’s carrying value and its present impaired value.
Collectively assessed loans
Impairment losses of collectively assessed loans include the allowances calculated on:
a) Performing loans
b) Retail loans with common features and which are not individually significant
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Performing loans
Where individually assessed loans are evaluated and no evidence of loss has been identified, these loans
are classified as performing loans portfolios with common credit risk characteristics based on industry,
product or loan rating.
Impairment loss includes losses which may arise from individual performing loans that were impaired at the
end of the reporting period but were not specifically identified as such as at that date. The estimated impairment
is calculated by the Group’s management for each identified portfolio based on historical experience and the
assessed inherent losses which are reflected by the economic and credit conditions.
Retail loans with common features and which are not individually significant
Impairment of retail loans is calculated by the Group’s management for each identified portfolio based
on historical experience and the assessed inherent losses which are reflected by the economic and credit
conditions.
Impaired loans are written off only when all legal and other avenues for recovery or settlement are
exhausted.
The carrying amount of loans and advances is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset.

50

F I N A N C E

H O U S E

A N N U A L

R E P O R T

2 0 0 9

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities, including customers’ deposits and due to banks, are initially measured at fair value,
net of transaction costs.
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.
4

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation of uncertainty

While applying the accounting policies as stated in Note 3, the management of the Group has made
certain judgements. These judgements mainly have a significant effect on the carrying amounts of loans
and advances. The significant judgements made by the management in arriving at the carrying amounts of
loans and advances and fair values of derivative financial instruments are summarised as follows:
Loans and advances
The allowance for loan losses is established through charges to consolidated statement of income in the
form of an allowance for loan loss. Increases and decreases in the allowance due to changes in the
measurement of the impaired loans are included in the allowance for loan losses and affect the consolidated
statement of income accordingly.
Individually assessed loans
Impairment losses for individually assessed loans are determined by an evaluation of exposure on a case-bycase basis. This procedure is applied to all classified corporate loans and advances which are individually
significant accounts or are not subject to the portfolio-based approach.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
4

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation of uncertainty (continued)

Loans and advances (continued)
Individually assessed loans (continued)
The following factors are considered by management when determining the allowance for impairment on
individual loans and advances which are significant:
• The amount expected to be realised on disposal of collateral or insurance proceeds.
• The Group’s ability to enforce its claim on the collateral and associated cost of litigation.
• The expected time frame to complete legal formalities and disposal of collateral.
• The individual’s nationality and ageing of amounts overdue.
The Group’s policy requires regular review of the level of impairment allowances on individual facilities
and regular valuation of the collateral and its enforceability.
Impaired loans continue to be classified as impaired unless they are brought fully current and the collection
of scheduled interest and principal is considered probable.
Collectively assessed loans
Collective assessment of allowance for impairment is made for overdue retail loans with common features
which are not individually significant and performing loans which are not found to be individually
impaired.
The following factors are considered by management when determining allowance for impairment for such
loans:
Retail loans – All the loans falling under similar overdue category are assumed to carry similar credit risk
and allowance for impairment is taken on a gross basis.
Other performing loans – The management of the Group assesses based on historical experience and
the prevailing economical and credit conditions, the magnitude of loans which may be impaired but not
identified as of the end of the reporting period.
During the year, management has revised its estimates based on historical default experience and
management’s judgement. If management were to adopt the same estimates as that applied on 31
December 2008, an additional provision for doubtful loans and advances would have been required as at
31 December 2009 to the extent of AED 24 million.
Contract cost estimates
As described in note 3, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenues
and costs are recognised by reference to stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period. In judging whether the outcome of the construction contract can be estimated reliably,
management has considered the detailed criterion for determination of such outcome as set out in IAS
11 ‘Construction Contracts’. For the purpose of estimating the stage of completion of contract activity,
management has considered the forecasts for revenue and costs related to each construction contract.
When it is estimated that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately. Management has considered the costs to be incurred based on
analysis and forecast of construction work to be executed.
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for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
4

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation of uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of unquoted available for sale investments
As described in note 30.8, the directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique
for financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly used by market
practitioners are applied. Such financial instruments are valued using discounted cash flow and capitalisation
of sustainable earnings analysis based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable market
prices or rates. The estimation of fair value of unquoted shares include some assumptions not supported
by observable market prices or rates. Details of assumptions used and of the results of sensitivity analyses
regarding these assumptions are provided in note 30.8.
5

Cash and cash equivalents

Due from banks
Current and demand accounts
Fixed placements
Call accounts

Cash balances
Due to banks maturing within three months (deposits) Due from banks maturing after three months

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

25,939
660,855
10,133
                  

8,242
506,424
21,076
                  

696,927

535,742

962
(2,356)
(250,855)
                  

2,018
(2,267)
                  

444,678

535,493

Net cash and cash equivalents

Fixed placements with banks of AED 250,855,000 (2008 – AED Nil) and due to banks of
AED 65,000,000 (2008 – AED 270,000,000) are due to mature after three months from the date of
placement and are not included in cash and cash equivalents.
6

Available for sale investments

Available for sale investments comprise:

Investments in quoted securities
Investments in unquoted securities – at fair value
Investments in unquoted securities – at cost

Less: allowance for impairment

F I N A N C E

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

384,536
96,300
71,286
                  

329,175
97,954
28,438
                  

552,122
(16,900)
                  

455,567
(16,900)
                  

535,222

438,667
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6

Available for sale investments (continued)

The movement in available for sale investments during the year was as follows:
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

Opening balance
Cost of shares purchased
Cost of shares disposed (note 25)
Fair value gain released on shares disposed during the year
Net decrease in fair value

438,667
418,427
(284,939)
(3,367)
(33,566)
                  

699,232
868,143
(848,879)
(233,876)
(29,053)
                  

Fair value
Less: allowance for impairment

535,222
                  

455,567
(16,900)
                  

535,222

438,667

Included in available for sale investments is an amount of AED 6,384,568 (2008: AED 1,030,152)
representing investments in foreign securities. Included in unquoted investments carried at cost is an
Islamic investment in a profit bearing convertible bond of Islamic Finance House P.J.S.C., a related party
(note 27).
7

Loans and advances, net
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

Commercial loans
Retail finance
Others

948,296
345,336
                  

978,169
317,400
                  

Less: allowance for impairment

1,293,632
(150,355)
                  

1,295,569
(142,191)
                  

1,143,277

1,153,378

Loans and advances are stated net of allowance for impairment. The movement in the allowance during
the year was as follows:

At January 1
Charge for the year
Less: Amounts written off during the year
At December 31
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2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

142,191
8,625
(461)
                  

44,818
97,460
(87)
                  

150,355

142,191

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
8

Investment in associates

Cost
Share of post acquisition profits
Less: Dividend received

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

46,217
23,049
(4,404)
                  

47,288
11,921
(4,405)
                  

64,862

54,804

Details of the Group’s associates as of 31 December 2009 are as follows:

Name of the associate

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Principal
activity

Percentage of holding
2009

2008

Gulf National Securities Center L.L.C.

United Arab
Emirates

10%

10%

Brokerage services in local
stocks and commodities.

The Financial Corporation SAOG

Sultanate of
Oman

22.22%

22.16%

Asset management,
trading in securities, share
brokerage, and corporate
finance.

Mainland Management L.L.C.

United Arab
Emirates

33.33%

33.33%

Hospitality management.

Gulf National Securities
Center International Limited

United Arab
Emirates

-

25%

Brokerage services on
Nasdaq and Dubai.

Sawaeed Investment LLC

United Arab
Emirates

25%

25%

Provider of labour
accommodation.

United Arab
Emirates

25%

25%

Provider of labour
accommodation.

Mountain Gate Property Investment LLC

For the purpose of applying equity method of accounting, the financial statements of the associates as
at 30 September 2009 have been used. Adjustments for significant transactions and events, if any,
between1 October 2009 and 31 December 2009 have been made to reflect the financial position as of
31 December 2009.
The fair value of the Group’s investment in The Financial Corporation SAOG, which is listed in Muscat
Securities Market in the Sultanate of Oman, as of 31 December 2009 is AED 34,319,067 (31 December
2008: AED 45,954,068).
Although the Group holds only 10% of the paid-up capital of Gulf National Securities Center L.L.C., it
exercises significant influence through its representation in the Board of Directors of this company.
During the year, Gulf National Securities Centre International Limited was wound up and an amount of
AED 306,264 has been charged to the consolidated income statement.
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8

Investment in associates (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates are as follows:
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

458,507
(198,010)
                   

433,120
(225,963)
                   

260,497

207,157

63,218

53,752

1,644
                   

1,052
                   

64,862

54,804

5,000

5,000

Revenue

25,686

90,647

Net profit for the year

28,795

36,580

Group’s share of net profit for the year

11,128

6,296

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share of net assets
Goodwill arising on acquisition
Carrying amount of investment in associates
Group’s share of contingent liabilities

The carrying value of investment in The Financial Corporation SAOG (representing foreign associate) is
AED 18,794,479 (2008: AED 21,599,295).
9

Goodwill

On 27 January 2009 and 28 September 2009, the Company acquired additional 35% and 5% shareholding
respectively in Third Vision Investment L.L.C., a subsidiary. The principal activities of the subsidiary are
ownership and management of head office premises.
Payment consideration
AED’000
Purchase consideration in cash and cash equivalents
Fair value of net assets acquired

33,098
(28,125)
                   

Goodwill recognised
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Property, fixtures and equipment

22,971
1,313
                
24,284
                
5,449
647
4,946
                
11,042
3,501
                

118,880
(9,213)
(19,200)
                
90,467
                
                
                

At 1 January 2009
Additions during the year
Revaluation loss
Transfer to investment property (note 11)

At 31 December 2009

9,741

90,467
118,880

Net book value
At 31 December 2009

At 31 December 2008

3,490

2,649

2,347
                

280
160
855
                
1,295
1,052
                

4,996
                

4,785
211
                

657
1,139
2,989
                

Motor
vehicles
AED’000

4,745

2,606

11,505
                

5,986
24
3,010
                
9,020
2,485
                

14,111
                

13,765
346
                

9,859
190
3,716
                

Computer
hardware
and
software
AED’000

12,882

12,066

                

                
                

12,066
                

12,882
21,848
(22,664)
                

465
12,417
                

Capital
work in
progress
AED’000

151,926

117,529

28,395
                

11,715
831
8,811
                
21,357
7,038
                

145,924
                

173,283
23,718
(9,213)
(41,864)
                

41,815
3,408
95,884
32,176
                

Total
AED’000
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The freehold land includes a plot of land that was granted free of cost by the Government of Abu Dhabi and a purchased plot of land on which the Group intends
to build its office premises.

11,929

14,543
                

                

At 31 December 2009

At 1 January 2009
Charge for the year

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Charge for the year

10,834
2,079
10,058
                

Freehold
land
AED’000

Furniture,
fixtures
and
equipment
AED’000

20,000
66,704
32,176
                

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2008
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Additions during the year
Revaluation gain

10
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10

Property, fixtures and equipment (continued)

The fair values of land are based on valuations carried out during 2009 by independent valuers not related
to the Group. The independent valuers have the appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the
valuation of properties in the relevant location. The valuation was arrived at using the sales comparison
method.
Capital work in progress mainly pertains to the construction of the office premises on the freehold plots of
land. Depreciation cost of AED 2,090,000 (2008: AED 2,631,000) is treated as part of contract costs.
11

Investment property
Capital work in progress

Opening balance
Transfer from property, fixtures and equipment (note 10)
Gain on fair valuation of investment property
Closing balance (at fair value)

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

41,864
5,600
                   

                   

47,464

-

Capital work in progress pertains to the construction of the office premises on the freehold plots of land.
The fair value of land is based on a valuation carried out on 5 November 2009 by independent valuers not
related to the Group. The independent valuers have the appropriate qualifications and recent experience in
the valuation of properties in the relevant location. The valuation was arrived at using the sales comparison
method.
12

Interest receivable and other assets

Interest receivable
Prepayments
Advance for investments
Accounts receivable
Amounts due from customers under construction contracts (note 28)
Other assets

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

46,031
15,607
34,951
1,638
8,115
                   

27,676
13,089
11,020
23,725
530
9,648
                   

106,342

85,688

Advance for investments represents amounts that were paid to acquire certain equity investments for which
the necessary legal procedures to transfer the ownership were in progress at the end of the reporting
period.
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for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
13

Customer deposits
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

83,115
1,412,520
                   

106,080
952,985
                   

1,495,635

1,059,065

695,283

695,450

800,352
                   

363,615
                   

1,495,635

1,059,065

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

35,115
67,305
143,576
8,530
111,971
                   

16,367
78,369
16,482
20,650
64,324
                   

366,497

196,192

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

220,000

220,000

220,000

220,000

By account
Call and demand deposits
Time deposits

By sector
Corporate
Government

14

Interest payable and other liabilities

Interest payable
Accrued expenses
Margin accounts
Provision for estimated contract losses
Other liabilities

15

Share capital

Authorised
220 million shares (2008: 220 million) of AED 1 each
Issued and fully paid
220 million shares (2008: 220 million) of AED 1 each
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16

Employees’ share-based payment scheme

The share-based payment scheme is administered by a trustee and gives the Board the authority to determine
which employees of the Group will be granted the shares. The value of shares granted to employees are
expensed in the period in which they are granted, and that of the remaining shares are included within
shareholders’ equity.
During the year, Nil shares (2008 – 120,769 shares) were granted to employees and outstanding shares not
yet granted to employees as of 31 December 2009 were 1,650,357 (31 December 2008 – 1,650,357).
17

Statutory reserve

In line with the provisions of the UAE Federal Commercial Companies Law No. (8) of 1984, (as amended)
and the Group’s Articles of Association, the Group is required to transfer annually to a statutory reserve
account an amount equivalent to 10% of its net profit, until such reserve reaches 50% of the share capital
of the Group. The statutory reserve is not available for distribution.
18

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve represent reserves that arose on revaluation of two plots of lands in Abu Dhabi in 2009
for AED 23.8 million and loss on revaluation of the Company’s available for sale investments portfolio for
AED 35.3 million.
19

Dividend

On 25 February 2009, a dividend of AED 1 per share (total dividend AED 200 million) was paid to holders
of fully paid ordinary shares (prior to the conversion of convertible bonds). In 2008, the dividend paid was
75 fils per share (total dividend AED 150 million).
In respect of the current year, the Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of AED 110,000,000
(2008 – AED 200,000,000) representing AED 0.50 per share, and a stock dividend of one share for every
four shares held, for distribution to the Shareholders. These dividends are subject to approval by the
shareholders of the General Assembly and hence have not been included as a liability in these financial
statements.
20

Convertible bonds

At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 February 2007, the Shareholders of the Company
approved the issuance of interest-free convertible bonds for an amount of AED 20 million. In 2007, the
Company issued these bonds, which were convertible into equity shares at AED 1.02 per share. On 10
February 2008, the convertible bonds were converted into 20,000,000 equity shares of AED 1 each, based
on the resolution of the Board of Directors of the Group dated 6 February 2008 after obtaining the required
statutory and regulatory approvals.
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21

Commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group had the following commitments and contingent liabilities outstanding at year end:

Letters of credit
Letters of guarantee
Capital commitments
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit

22

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

11,841
535,272
36,892
101,233
                  

7,649
384,719
119,002
284,387
                  

685,238

795,757

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

35,610
167,452
1,169
                  

13,282
122,791
245
                  

204,231

136,318

(68,998)
(10,103)
                  

(28,342)
(17,359)
                  

(79,101)
                  

(45,701)
                  

125,130

90,617

Net interest income

Interest income
On due from banks
From loans and advances
Others
Total interest income
Interest expense
On customer deposits
On due to banks
Total interest expense
Net interest income

No interest income is recognised on impaired loans and advances.
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Net fee and commission income

Fee and commission income
Corporate and commercial finance activities
Retail finance activities
Total fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Other
Net fee and commission income

24

Net income/(loss) from investments held for trading

14,693
11,559
                  

17,520
12,375
                  

26,252

29,895

(7,225)
                  

(10,516)
                  

19,027

19,379

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

687
39
                  

707
(4,725)
330
                  

726

(3,688)

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

301,588
(284,939)
                  

1,251,119
(848,879)
(29,563)
                  

16,649
6,452
                  

372,677
13,269
                  

23,101

385,946

Net income from available for sale investments

Sales proceeds from disposal
Cost of shares disposed (note 6)
Finance cost on acquisition of available for sale investments

Dividends on available for sale investments
Net income from available for sale investments

62

2008
AED’000

Net income/(loss) from investments carried at fair value through profit or loss

Net realised gain on disposal of investments held for trading
Unrealised gain /(loss) on investments held for trading
Dividends on investments held for trading

25

2009
AED’000
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26

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the
net profit and the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares, which comprise convertible bonds.
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Net profit for the year (AED’000)
Weighted number of shares in issue throughout the year (000’s)
Effect of dilutive convertible bonds issue (000’s) (note 20)
Weighted average number of shares in issue for the
purpose of diluted earnings per share (000’s)

27

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

112,409

248,849

220,000

218,033

-

1,967

220,000

220,000

Related party transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions with major shareholders, directors,
senior management and their related concerns at commercial interest and commission rates.
The related party balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

To associates

76,614
                  

19,850
                  

To key management staff

843
                  

1,027
                  

2,744
                  

11,773
                  

1,873

4,557

159,747

27,976

55,000

-

Loans and advances

Customers’ deposits
From associates
From others
Interest payable and other liabilities
Payable to the minority of a subsidiary
Available for sale investments
In Islamic Finance House P.J.S.C.
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27

Related party transactions (continued)
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

19,671

-

Interest receivable and other assets
From others (Islamic Finance House PJSC)

Contingent liabilities (note 19) include a letter of guarantee issued by a bank on behalf of an associate
amounting to AED 8,500,000 (31 December 2008 : AED 7,500,000) and for Islamic Finance House PJSC
amounting to AED 45,000,000 (31 December 2008 : AED 75,000,000).
Significant transactions with related parties during the year were as follows:
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

7,326

1,466

From key management staff

49

19

From others (Islamic Finance House PJSC)

73

143

81,066

31,401

133

187

4,410

151

14,820

18,972

-

37

Interest and commission income
From associates

Contract revenue
Interest expenses
To associates
To others
Key management remuneration
Short term benefits (salaries, benefits and bonuses)
Share based payments
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28

Construction Contracts
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

119,371

55,173

(117,733)
                  

(54,643)
                  

1,638

530

1,638

530

Construction costs incurred plus recognised profits
less recognised losses to date
Less : Progress billings to date

Recognised and included in the consolidated financial statements as
amounts due from customers under construction contracts (note 12)

At

31

December

2009,

retentions

held

by

customers

for

contract

work

amounted

to

AED 5,686,491 (31 December 2008: AED 5,444,445). Advances received from customers for contract
work amounted to AED 18,776,372 (31 December 2008: AED 10,628,751).
29

Segmental information

29.1

Adoption of IFRS 8 Operating Segments

The Group has adopted IFRS 8 Operating Segments with effect from 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment
and to assess its performance. In contrast, the predecessor Standard (IAS 14: Segment Reporting) required
an entity to identify two segments (business and geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with
the entity’s system of internal financial reporting to key management personnel’ serving only as the starting
point for the identification of such segments. However, the business segments reported earlier as per the
requirements of IAS 14 Segment Reporting are also used by the General Manager to allocate resources to
the segments and to assess its performance.
29.2

Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance is specifically focussed on the type of business activities undertaken
as a Group. The Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are therefore as follows:
(i)

Commercial and Retail Financing, which principally provides loans and other credit facilities
for institutional and individual customers and

(ii)

Investment, which involves the management of the Group’s investment portfolio and its
treasury activities;

(iii)

Construction, which involves the Group’s subsidiaries involved in real estate construction
related activities.
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Interest expense
Share of profit of associates
Other operating income

Additions to non-current assets during the year

-

-

F I N A N C E

1,302

111,834

-

1,968,538

Segmental liabilities

206
––––––––
206
(901)
(5,430)
––––––––
(6,125)
––––––––
(6,125)

-

Construction
AED’000

52,275

8,246

8,246
––––––––

(31,381)
11,128
29,427
––––––––
10,343
(2,097)
––––––––

1,169

Investment
AED’000

815,480

1,852,210

Segmental assets

Net profit for the year after impairment

122,499
(8,164)
––––––––
114,335

Net profit for the year before impairment
Allowance for impairment

Total operating income
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Other expenses and charges

203,062
(47,720)
27,338
––––––––
182,680
(60,181)
––––––––

Interest income

Commercial
and retail
financing
AED’000

H O U S E

Year ended 31 December 2009

Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues (continued)

29.2

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented below:

Segmental information (continued)
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22,416

-

-

(4,047)

(4,047)
––––––––

––––––––
(4,047)
––––––––

-

Unallocated
AED’000
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23,718

2,080,372

2,719,965

120,573
(8,164)
––––––––
112,409

(79,101)
11,128
56,971
––––––––
193,229
(4,948)
(67,708)
––––––––

204,231

Total
AED’000
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-

1,527,202

Segmental liabilities

Additions to non-current assets during the year

1,852,465

(31,495)

136,073
(28,490)
21,374
––––––––
128,957
(63,079)
––––––––
65,878
(97,373)
––––––––

Segmental assets

Net profit for the year after impairment

Net profit for the year before impairment
Allowance for impairment

Total operating income
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Provision for contract losses
Other expenses and charges

Interest income
Interest expense
Share of profit of associates
Other operating income

Commercial
and retail
financing
AED’000

Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues (continued)

29.2

-

-

522,857

323,712

245
(17,211)
6,296
382,258
––––––––
371,588
(30,976)
––––––––
340,612
(16,900)
––––––––

Investment
AED’000

F I N A N C E

11,138

101,836

48,403

(37,373)

(7,972)
––––––––
(7,972)
(185)
(20,650)
(8,566)
––––––––
(37,373)
––––––––

Construction
AED’000

H O U S E

Year ended 31 December 2008

Segmental information (continued)
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88,154

-

-

(5,995)

––––––––
(5,995)
––––––––
(5,995)
––––––––

Unallocated
AED’000
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99,292

1,629,038

2,423,725

248,849

136,318
(45,701)
6,296
395,660
––––––––
492,573
(6,180)
(20,650)
(102,621)
––––––––
363,122
(114,273)
––––––––

Total
AED’000
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Segmental information (continued)

29.2

Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues (continued)

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment
sales in the year (2008: Nil). The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in note 3.
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:
• All assets are allocated to reportable segments. Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on
the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and
• All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments. Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable
are allocated in proportion to segment assets.
29.3 Geographical information
The Group operates in one principal geographical area – United Arab Emirates (country of domicile). There are
operations in other non-principal geographical areas such as Sultanate of Oman, Kingdom of Bahrain, State of
Qatar and Egypt (combinedly referred to as ‘foreign’).
The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its non-current assets by geographical
location are detailed below:
Domestic
AED’000

Foreign
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Operating income (from external
customers)

195,881

(2,652)

193,229

Non-current assets

164,993

-

164,993

Operating income (from external
customers)

458,381

34,192

492,573

Non-current assets

151,926

-

151,926

2009

2008

29.4

Information about major customers

There is no single customer accounting for more than 10% of the Group’s revenues from external
customers.
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for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)
30 Financial instruments
30.1

Capital risk management

The Group is licensed and regulated by the Central Bank of the UAE. The Central Bank’s capital adequacy
stipulation for finance companies is a minimum of 15%. The Group’s capital adequacy ratio as at 31
December 2009 is 26% (2008 - 37%), which is in line with the Group’s policy of maintaining a strong
capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development
of the business.
While maximising the return to Shareholders through the optimisation of debt and equity balance, the
Group manages its capital to ensure to be able to continue as a going concern. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from 2008.
The Group’s Board of Directors reviews the consolidated financial statements on a quarterly basis and as
part of this review, the Board also reviews the size and cost of capital of the Group.
The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers• Tier 1 capital which includes share capital (excluding shares held for employees share-based payment
scheme), statutory reserve, retained earnings, convertible bonds and proposed directors’ remuneration.
• The tier 1 capital should be a minimum of 6% of total risk weighted assets.
• Tier 2 capital which includes revaluation reserve . The tier 2 capital should be a maximum of 67% of
tier 1 capital.
Risk weighted assets are determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying
levels of risk attached to assets and off-statement of financial position exposures.
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30

Financial instruments (continued)

30.1

Capital risk management (continued)

The Group’s capital adequacy position as at 31 December was as follows:

Tier 1 capital
Tier 1 capital as % of total risk weighted assets
Tier 2 capital

2008
AED’000

601,303
                   

873,846
                   

25%

37%

87,293

42,565

15%

Tier 2 capital as % of tier 1 capital
Deductions from tier 1 and tier 2 capital
Investment in associates
Total capital base
Total risk weighted assets
Capital adequacy (Total capital base/
total risk weighted assets)

30.2

2009
AED’000

5%

(64,862)
                   

(54,804)
                   

623,734

861,607

2,386,781

2,336,188

26%

37%

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s Corporate Treasury function supports the business activities of the Group by providing finance
to the business units at the optimum cost, by ensuring that sufficient liquidity is maintained at all times, and
by deploying liquid balances at optimum rates, within the risk parameters set by the Board of Directors and
the governing laws and regulations.
30.3

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it mainly to the risk of changes in market price of its portfolio of quoted
marketable securities. These market risks are monitored at the end of every market day and reported
to senior management. The Group limits market risks by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by the
continuous monitoring of developments in the market. In addition, the Group actively monitors the key
factors that affect stock and the market movements, including analysis of the operational and financial
performance of investees.
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30

Financial instruments (continued)

30.3

Market risk (continued)

The Group does not have any significant exposure to currency risk as most of its assets are denominated in
UAE Dirhams or in US Dollars, the latter being pegged to the UAE Dirhams.
There has been no change to the manner in which the Group manages and measures market risk.
Equity price risk sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk in recognised
stock exchanges and over-the-counter markets at the end of the reporting period.
If equity prices had been 1% higher/lower as at year-end:
• Net profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the value of held for trading investments would be
increased/decreased by AED 24,073 (2008: AED 15,020); and
• Revaluation reserve and the value of available for sale investments would be increased/decreased by
AED 3,845,360 (2008: AED 3,059,750).
The Group’s sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year.
30.4

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the net interest income
of the Group. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of
assets and liabilities that mature or repriced in a given period. The Group manages this risk by matching
the repricing of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies.
A substantial majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities are repriced within one year. Accordingly, there
is limited exposure to interest rate risk.
Financial assets that are subject to fair value interest rate risk are the ones with a fixed interest rate. Certain
fixed rated loans and advances and investments available for sale fall under this category.
Financial assets and liabilities exposed to cash flow interest rate risk are the ones with floating interest rate.
A significant portion of the Group’s loans and advances, customer deposits, dues from banks, and dues to
banks fall under this category.
Financial assets that are not subject to either fair value or cash flow interest rate risk are mainly comprised
of investment in equity instruments.
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Interest rate risk (continued)

30.4

(88,126)

(284,800)

572,275

(116,615)

(28,489)

59,933

                 

-

59,933

31,444

31,444
                 

6 months to
less than
1 year
AED’000

57,695

174,310

-

                 

-

-

174,310

174,310
                 

1 year to less
than 3 years
AED’000
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Total
AED’000
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-

-

2,719,965

4,045
639,593
                 

366,497

67,356
146,839
1,495,635

2,719,965

962
696,927
2,407
535,222
1,143,277
4,973
64,862
106,342
117,529
47,464
                 

R E P O R T

-

(131,328)

1,017,501

4,045
639,593
                 

366,497

2,356
5,010
-

886,173

962
10,126
2,407
535,222
(3,714)
4,973
64,862
106,342
117,529
47,464
                 

Non-interest
bearing items
AED’000

A N N U A L

131,328

73,633

-

                 

-

-

73,633

73,633
                 

Over 3 years
AED’000

Available for sale investments include interest bearing securities amounting to AED 55 Million (31 December 2008 - AED 3 million)
carrying effective interest rate of 4.00% per annum (2008: 10.50% per annum).

196,674

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap

1,070,256

                 

-

                 

65,000
91,829
415,446

287,475

1,266,930
50,000
1,020,256

200,855
86,620
                 

3 months to
less than 6
months
AED’000

485,946
780,984
                 

196,674

4.00
3.79
5.48

11.49

6.43

Less than 3
months
AED’000

On-statement of financial position gap

Total liabilities and equity

Provision for employees’ end of
service benefits
Equity

Liabilities and Equity
Due to banks
Term loan
Customers’ deposits
Interest payable and other liabilities

Total assets

Assets
Cash balances
Due from banks
Investments held for trading
Available for sale investments
Loans and advances
Goodwill
Investment in associates
Interest receivable and other assets
Property, fixtures and equipment
Investment Property

Effective
rate

The Group’s interest sensitivity position based on contractual repricing arrangements at 31 December 2009 was as follows:
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Interest rate risk (continued)

30.4

402,190
402,190

On-statement of financial position gap

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap

46,275

(355,915)

416,762

                 

-

                 

145,000
91,829
179,933
-

60,847

60,847
                 

125,000
674,933
-

1,218,605

534,126
684,479
                 

AED’000

AED’000

816,415

2.97
3.70
5.13

11.21

8.08

3 months to
less than 6
months

Less than 3
months

Total liabilities and equity

Equity
Non-controlling interest

Liabilities and Equity
Due to banks
Term loan
Customers’ deposits
Interest payable and other liabilities
Provision for employees’ end of
service benefits

Total assets

Cash balances
Due from banks
Investments held for trading
Available for sale investments
Loans and advances
Investment in associates
Interest receivable and other assets
Property, fixtures and equipment

Assets

Effective
rate

102,918

56,643

4,199

                 

-

4,199
-

60,842

60,842
                 

AED’000

6 months to
less than
1 year

F I N A N C E

10,168

(92,750)

200,000

                 

-

200,000
-

107,250

107,250
                 

AED’000

1 year to less
than 3 years

H O U S E

Total

2 0 0 9

    -

-

2,423,725

783,357
11,330
                 

2,319

272,267
99,195
1,059,065
196,192

2,423,725

2,018
535,742
1,502
438,667
1,153,378
54,804
85,688
151,926
                 

AED’000

R E P O R T

-

(250,128)

986,349

783,357
11,330
                 

2,319

2,267
7,366
196,192

736,221

2,018
1,616
1,502
438,667
54,804
85,688
151,926
                 

AED’000

Non-interest
bearing items

A N N U A L

250,128

239,960

-

                 

-

-

239,960

239,960
                 

AED’000

Over 3 years

The Group’s interest sensitivity position based on contractual repricing arrangements at 31 December 2008 was as follows:
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30.4

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the
sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to various standards and non-standard interest
rate scenarios. The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates
for all financial instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 50 basis points lower throughout the year and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s net profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 would be decreased by AED 0.3
million (2008: decrease by AED 0.1 million). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its shareholders’ equity, as offset by the effect of floors on its loans and advances.
The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has not changed significantly from the prior year.
30.5

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty defaults on its contractual obligations, resulting in financial
loss to the Group, and arises principally from the Group’s loans and advances. The Group has adopted
a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group attempts to
control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties, and
continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties. In addition to monitoring credit limits, the
Group manages credit exposure relating to its trading activities by entering into collateral arrangements
with counterparties in appropriate circumstances, and limiting the duration of exposure. In certain cases,
the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk. The
Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled
by counterparty limits and country limits that are reviewed and approved by the Board’s investment and
credit committee annually.
Concentration of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business
activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause
their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or
other conditions. Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance
to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location.
The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through diversification of its lending activities to avoid
undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or businesses.
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30.5

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk excluding collateral or other credit enhancements, are as
follows:
2008

2009

Due from banks
Loans and advances, net
Unquoted available for
sale investments
Other assets
Letters of credit
Letters of guarantee
Irrevocable commitments
to extend credit

Carrying
value
AED’000

Off
B/Sheet
items
AED’000

Maximum
credit
exposure
AED’000

Carrying
value
AED’000

Off
B/Sheet
items
AED’000

Maximum
credit
exposure
AED’000

696,927

-

696,927

535,742

-

535,742

1,143,277

-

1,143,277

1,153,378

-

1,153,378

167,586

-

167,586

149,592

-

149,592

90,735
-

11,841
535,272

90,735
11,841
535,272

72,599
-

7,649
384,719

72,599
7,649
384,719

                

101,233
                

101,233
                

                

284,387
                

284,387
                

2,098,525

648,346

2,746,871

1,911,311

676,755

2,588,066
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30.5

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk on loans and advances have been analysed in the table below:
2009
Loans &
advances
AED’000
Carrying amount

2009
Impairment
AED’000

1,327
109,704
(69,685)
                  
41,346

Carrying amount

2008
Impairment
AED’000

1,153,378

1,143,277

Individually impaired loans and advances
91-180 days
More than 180 days
Less: allowance for individual impairment

2008
Loans &
advances
AED’000

                  

1,631
23,084
(24,715)
                  

                  

69,685

-

24,715

                  

3,783
1,684
24,858
1,877
                  

                  

1,327
68,358

1,631
23,084

Past due but not individually impaired
30-60 days
61-90 days
91-180 days
More than 180 days

49,330
2,397
25,345
95,098
                  

Carrying amount
Neither past due nor individually impaired
Less: allowance for potential collective
impairment

F I N A N C E

H O U S E

32,202

1,010,431

1,238,652

(80,670)
                  

Carrying amount
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(117,476)
                  
1,153,378
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Financial instruments (continued)

30.5

Credit risk (continued)

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and advances
is shown below:
2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

Against individually impaired
Property
Debt securities
Equities
Other

113,128
6,656
6,664

7,926
20
4,719

Against past due but not impaired
Property
Debt securities
Equities
Other

102,285
26,904
28,252

91,354
11,697
14,999

238,176
74,880
295,566
                  

358,537
108,480
388,968
                  

892,511

986,700

Against neither past due nor impaired
Property
Debt securities
Equities
Other
Total

The Group monitors concentration of credit risk on loans and advances by economic sector. An analysis of
concentrations of credit risk at the end of the reporting period is shown below:

Economic sector
Trade
Real estate
Manufacturing
Transport
Retail and personal loans
Others
Less: allowance for impairment

2009
AED’000

2008
AED’000

54,839
254,035
2,226
23,790
340,139
618,603
                  

15,021
216,428
6,628
24,341
317,400
715,751
                  

1,293,632
(150,355)
                  

1,295,569
(142,191)
                  

1,143,277

1,153,378

The Group’s loans and advances portfolio was held only in the UAE domestic market as of 31 December
2009 and 2008.
Due from banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are highly regulated by
the central banks of the respective countries. All cash and bank balances are maintained in the local UAE
banks.
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30.6

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an institution will be unable to meet its funding requirements. Liquidity risk
can be caused by market disruptions or a credit downgrade which may cause certain sources of funding
to dry up immediately. To guard against this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets
are managed with liquidity in mind, maintaining a healthy balance of cash, cash equivalents, and readily
marketable securities.
The table on the next page summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The
contractual maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at
the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date and do not take into account the effective
maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history and the availability of liquid funds. The
maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.
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30.6

Total liabilities and equity

Liabilities and Equity
Due to banks
Term loan
Customers’ deposits
Provision for employees’ end of service
benefit
Interest payable and other liabilities
Equity

Total assets

Assets
Cash balances
Due from banks
Investments held for trading
Available for sale investments
Loans and advances
Goodwill
Investment in associates
Interest receivable and other assets
Property, fixtures and equipment
Investment Property

2,719,965

1,336,582

-

486,059

5,000
                 

265,975
                 

4,045
366,497
639,593
                 

287,830

200,855
84,675
2,300
                 

65,613
415,446

1,053,199

962
496,072
2,407
222,971
228,053
4,973
97,761
                 

3 months to
less than
6 months
AED’000

518
49,833
1,020,256

67,356
146,839
1,495,635

2,719,965

962
696,927
2,407
535,222
1,143,277
4,973
64,862
106,342
117,529
47,464
                 

Total
AED’000

Less than
3 months
AED’000

H O U S E

5,177

                 

-

5,177
-

631,812

182,876
380,093
64,862
3,981
                 

1 year to less
than 3 years
AED’000

F I N A N C E

205,044

52,057
                 

-

1,225
91,829
59,933

308,805

306,505
2,300
                 

6 months to
less than
1 year
AED’000

A N N U A L
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683,327

39,689
639,593
                 

4,045

-

332,205

116,522
77,752
90,467
47,464
                 

Over
5 years
AED’000

R E P O R T

3,776

3,776
                 

-

-

106,114

12,853
66,199
27,062
                 

3 years to less
than 5 years
AED’000

The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual repayment arrangements was as follows:
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30.6

2,423,725

870,262

-

339,390

13,912
                 

53,326
                 

2,319
179,710
783,357
11,330
                 

127,779

120,099
7,680
                 

145,545
179,933

977,449

2,018
535,742
1,502
223,532
139,278
75,377
                 

125,522
691,414

272,267
99,195
1,075,547

2,423,725

2,018
535,742
1,502
438,667
1,153,378
54,804
85,688
151,926
                 

3 months to
less than
6 months
AED’000

72,584

67,184
                 

-

1,200
4,200

399,047

3,000
393,924
2,123
                 

6 months to
less than
1 year
AED’000

304,188

5,938
                 

-

98,250
200,000

414,400

79,984
279,104
54,804
508
                 

1 year to less
than 3 years
AED’000

945

                 

-

945
-

177,902

18,245
126,611
33,046
                 

3 years to less
than 5 years
AED’000

836,356

39,350
783,357
11,330
                 

2,319

-

327,148

113,906
94,362
118,880
                 

Over
5 years
AED’000
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Investments held for trading are assumed to be immediately realisable. Maturities of other assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the period
remaining at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date.

Total liabilities and equity

Liabilities and Equity
Due to banks
Term loan
Customers’ deposits
Provision for employees’ end of service
benefit
Interest payable and other liabilities
Equity
Non-controlling interest

Total assets

Assets
Cash balances
Due from banks
Investments held for trading
Available for sale investments
Loans and advances
Investment in associates
Interest receivable and other assets
Property, fixtures and equipment

Total
AED’000

Less than
3 months
AED’000

The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2008 was as follows:
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30.7

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud or external events.
When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory
implications, or lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but
through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group is able to
manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation
procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.
30.8

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
• the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded
on active liquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices;
• the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.
Investments held for trading
Investments held for trading represent investment securities that present the Group with opportunity for
returns through dividend income and trading gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The
fair value of these investments are based on quoted prices at close of business as of 31 December 2009.
Held for trading investments in foreign securities amount to AED 2,407,263 (31 December 2008: AED
1,501,806).
Except as detailed below, management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
Unquoted equity - at cost
Unquoted equity carried at cost represent such investments for which fair values cannot be measured
reliably. Available for sale investments of AED 71.3 million (2008: AED 28.4 million) are carried at cost, of
which AED 16.3 million (2008: AED 25.4 million) are in private equity either in their pre-operative phase
or in an early stage of operation. These investments are expected to have interested buyers when they
become operational. Management intends to hold these investments until the value in these investments is
adequately unlocked for optimum return on the investment.
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30.8

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Unquoted equity – at fair value
The financial statements include holdings in unquoted shares which are measured at fair value. Fair values
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis and capitalisation of sustainable earnings basis. The valuation model includes some assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. In determining the fair value, a long term
earnings growth factor of 2%-4% (2008: 4%) and risk adjusted discount or capitalisation rates in the range
of 15% to 20% (2008: 20% to 25%) were used. If the long term earnings growth factor were 1% higher/
lower while all other variable were held constant, then the carrying amount of the shares would increase/
decrease by AED 3 million. Similarly, if the risk adjusted discount or capitalisation rates were 1% higher/
lower while all other variable were held constant, then the carrying amount of the shares would decrease/
increase by AED 7 million. The impact of the change in fair valuation from previously existing carrying
amounts have been recognised as a part of revaluation reserves in equity.
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices, including over-the-counter quoted prices).
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
Level 1
AED’000

Level 2
AED’000

Level 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

2,407

-

-

2,407

291,927

92,609

-

384,536

                  

                  

96,300
                  

96,300
                  

294,334

92,609

96,300

483,243

Financial assets at FVTPL
Non-derivative financial assets held for trading
Available-for-sale financial assets
Quoted equities
Unquoted equities
Total

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the period.
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30.8

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets:
Unquoted available
for sale equities
AED’000
Opening balance

97,954

Total losses recognised in other comprehensive income

(1,654)
                  

Closing balance

31

96,300

Approval of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue
on 25 January 2010.
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